## GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE FOR CITIES





ISBN 978-80-88399-01-8 (paperback) 978-80-88399-02-5 (online: pdf)



European Union European Regional Development Fund









Author collective: Doc. Ing. Miloš Zapletal, Dr., Mgr. Vít Kašpar, Ing. Pavel Samec, Ph.D., Mgr. Jiří Bílek, Ph.D., Mgr. Karel Doležal, Dr., DSc., Bc. Pavlína Víchová, Ing. Tomáš Balcar, Mgr. Gabriela Kalužová, Ing. Stanislav Juráň, Ph.D., RNDr. Jan Hladík, Ph.D.

Graphic design and illustration: MgA. Anna Janovská, MgA. Aleš Zapletal, Ph.D.

Published by: Statutory City of Ostrava / Strategic Development Department, 2021

Researchers of the project Clairo - Clean Air and Climate Adaptation in Ostrava and Other cities: Statutory City of Ostrava, Moravian-Silesian Region, VSB - Technical University of Ostrava, Silesian University in Opava, Palacký University Olomouc, Regional Association of Territorial Cooperation of Těšín Silesia, SOBIC Smart & Open Base for innovations in European Cities.

This project is co-financed by the European Regional Development Fund through the Urban Innovative Actions initiative.



### CONTENTS

1.

2.

3.

Summary	8
Introduction	10
A city as a place for life	11
Green infrastructure in an urban environment	14
Services provided by green infrastructure	16
City air quality and its effect on human health	17
The importance of green infrastructure in protecting	
human health	21
Principles of planting green infrastructure	24
Monitoring pollutant capture	25
Species composition	27
Structure and composition	29
Fertilisation and treatment	31
Case study	33
Situation in the Moravian-Silesian Region	34
Bartovice and Radvanice sites	36
Air pollution measurement and information system	39
Planting greenery in the proposed structure	42
Strengthening the resistance of plants	47
Pollutant capture modelling	48
Transfer of know-how and public surveys	57
Conclusion	59
Literature	60
Images	66

### SUMMARY

1) Green infastructure contributes to the improvement of air quality in urban environments by removing suspended particles and other pollutants by capturing them on the surface of leaves. Some of the captured pollutants can be passed into intercellular spaces through the stomata, but most of them remain on the leaf surface, from where they can be resuspended into the atmosphere or washed away by precipitation.

**2)** Important aspects of a quality and efficient green infrastructure in the capture of suspended particulates ( $PM_x$ ), ground-level ozone ( $O_3$ ) and nitrogen oxides ( $NO_x$ ) are the properties of plant organs and their arrangement, as well as the overall structure of the vegetation, its height and canopy density.

In general, the larger the green surface area per unit of area, the higher the air pollution removal. Mature trees with a dense multi-level canopy are significantly more effective than low vegetation that only consists of a herbaceous layer. The addition of coniferous non-deciduous tree species or evergreen shrubs is suitable for the continuity of year-round capture.

**3)** When planting green infrastructure in industrial areas with increased concentrations of air pollutants, it is necessary to give preference to species with increased resistance to air pollution. Especially at high concentrations of ground-level ozone, it is necessary to select species resistant to this type of pollution.

**4)** The use of environmentally friendly fertilisers containing biostimulants and phytohormones, which help plants overcome abiotic stresses, can ensure the long-term viability of existing and newly planted greenery even in heavily polluted environments around industrial areas.

Green infrastructure in good health can better photosynthesize and create dense and high-quality canopies. Ultimately it may capture air pollutants more effectively and improve local air quality.

**5)** To monitor the effect of green infrastructure on the local air quality, sensors should be installed in the surrounding area. Due to their simple installation and operation, they are suitable for additional measurement, which can also detect 'unusual' situations, including the time of specific events.



# **1. INTRODUCTION**

### A CITY AS A PLACE FOR LIFE

Cities are a place of life and social interaction. Today, over a half of the world's population lives in cities, and it is estimated that by 2030 three-fifths of people will live in cities (Fuller and Gaston 2009; Smith and Guarizo 2009).

The degree of urbanization in the Czech Republic is even higher. Over 73 % inhabitants of the Czech Republic (over 7 million people) live in urban areas (CZSO 2018). Many of these people live in small or medium-sized cities with up to 50,000 inhabitants (over 42 %).

While cities connect us, their rapid and unprecedented growth has brought about serious challenges. Urban development has negatively impacted the environment, led to the loss of natural habitats and biodiversity, and increased the risk to human health associated with overheating, noise and air pollution.

And we can expect the effects of environmental degradation to increase due to climate change. This is why we need to find ways to reduce health risks and maximize opportunities for a high quality of life in expanding urban environments.





### **GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE IN AN URBAN ENVIRONMENT**



### **GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE COMPONENTS**



Protected areas, such as Natura 2000 sites and small protected areas.

Healthy, quality ecosystems and areas of high natural value outside protected areas, such as floodplains, wetlands, coastal areas, natural forests, etc.



Natural landscape features, such as small watercourses, forest lands, hedges that can serve as wildlife corridors or stepping stones



Restored parts of natural habitats that have been created for specific species, e.g. to increase the size of the protected area, to increase the area for foraging, reproduction and rest for these species, and to facilitate their migration/distribution.









Artificially created elements, such as ecoducts or eco-bridges, which should make it easier for species to overcome insurmountable landscape barriers.

Multifunctional areas where land use is prioritized in a way that helps maintain or restore healthy, biodiversity-rich ecosystems over other activities that are incompatible with these objectives

Landscape elements that contribute to climate change adaptation or its mitigation, such as wetlands, floodplains and peat swamp forests for flood prevention, water retention and CO2 uptake, and that provide space to enable species to respond to changing climatic conditions.

Green infrastructure offers potential adaptation measures for a better life in urban environments. It is generally understood as a network of physical, nature-friendly elements that provides environmental, economic and social benefits for society and promotes human well-being and quality of life. In urban areas, green infrastructure can consist of green areas, such as parks, street trees and green roofs. These natural and semi-natural areas are strategically planned and managed to provide a range of ecosystem services.

### SERVICES PROVIDED BY GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

- Population health: along with improved air quality, pollutant filtration, oxygen generation and noise absorption, green infrastructure helps prevent a number of diseases by encouraging inhabitants to be physically active. Inhabitants of green cities are more active and they use various forms of sustainable transport.
- Resilience of cities: green infrastructure allows cities to better adapt to climate change and the associated increase in the frequency and intensity of temperature extremes, which affect the health of vulnerable groups. Green infrastructure can also prevent soil erosion, retain water in the landscape and reduce electricity consumption.
- Increased biodiversity: green infrastructure helps maintain and develop the number of animal and plant species in cities.
  City dwellers value biodiversity, and it also arouses interest in the environment and public space.
- Quality of life of the population: the amount of greenery is one indicator of quality of life.
  In green cities, people are more active and satisfied; greenery also helps prevent mental illness.

- Reduced stress: green infrastructure helps improve concentration, memory, and learning ability, it has a calming effect, and it speeds up recovery from illness.
- Attractiveness of the environment: green cities attract groups of people who are often more active, enterprising, more educated and interested in the public space and events.
- Economic growth: green infrastructure creates new jobs and increases the value of housing and land. Green cities are more attractive to investors.
- Strengthening of communities: green cities promote social interaction. Projects such as community gardens and shared plants promote good neighbourly relations. Lower crime rates have been reported in green cities.



### CITY AIR QUALITY AND ITS EFFECT ON HUMAN HEALTH

We can imagine air pollution as a dense mixture of chemicals, molecules and solid particles that most of us breathe in daily. Compared to adults, newborns and infants breathe more of this pollution because they inhale more often than adults. Our children are therefore among the most affected groups by air quality during their most vulnerable stages of development (Landrigan et al. 1998).

Common air pollutants include suspended dust particles ( $PM_x$ ), sulfur dioxide ( $SO_2$ ), ground-level (tropospheric) ozone ( $O_3$ ), nitrogen oxides ( $NO_x$ ) and carbon monoxide (CO). In 2005, 89% of the world's population lived in areas where the World Health Organization's air quality guidelines were exceeded for at least one of these substances (Brauer et al. 2012).

Different air pollutants have different adverse health effects. Coarse particles ( $PM_{10}$ ) are emitted from domestic heat sources and power plants, while fine particles ( $PM_{2.5}$ ) mostly come from cars, municipal services and the combustion of wood and organic material (Shah and Balkhair 2011). The World Health Organization estimates that suspended particles are responsible for approximately 800,000 premature deaths each year, and the loss of 6.4 million years of healthy life (Brauer et al. 2012).









### HEALTH IMPACTS

Acute manifestations - cough, acute respiratory diseases, mucosal irritation, worsening of existing respiratory diseases and cardiovascular diseases, increase in hospitalizations and mortality.

**Chronic manifestations** - diseases of the respiratory system (inflammation of the bronchi, lungs) and circulatory system, premature deaths, decreased lung function, allergies, asthma.

**Potential carcinogenic and mutagenic** - cancer, developmental defects.

### THE IMPORTANCE OF GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE IN PROTECTING HUMAN HEALTH

One significant benefit of green infrastructure is its positive impact on human health and overall we-II-being. Green infrastructure provides a place for rest and recreation, as well as an environment for physical activities, which has a positive effect on our physical and mental health (Van den Berg 2015). The green space available near residential areas is directly related to lower obesity rates of the local population (Sakar, 2017) and a lower mortality rate due to cardiovascular diseases (Gascon et al., 2016).

The fundamental importance of green infrastructure from the perspective of human health is its ability to influence local microclimatic conditions and improve air quality. Suspended particles and other pollutants from the air are primarily removed through their capture on the leaf surface (Cavanagh et al. 2006). The amount of sedimented particles also depends on the size or mass of suspended particles and flow rate (Janhäll 2015). When particles settle on leaves, fine particles smaller than 1 µm can be further infiltrated through the stomata into intercellular spaces, where they can be further absorbed. A similar principle of absorption applies to tropospheric ozone molecules. However, larger particles remain on the surface of the vegetation after their

capture from where they can be subsequently resuspended in the atmosphere, washed away by precipitation or deposited on the ground when deciduous leaves fall (Nowak et al., 2006).

In addition, green infrastructure also affects the concentration of suspended particulates in the air indirectly by changing meteorological conditions. The main mechanism is a reduction of the air flow rate. Vegetation serves as an effective windbreak, where suspended particles are deposited on the ground and their overall concentration in the air is reduced on the leeward side due to a decrease in flow rate. Green walls on high-rise buildings may also have a significant effect (Pugh et al. 2012).

Vegetation also modifies local temperature conditions. Daily temperatures are locally reduced primarily due to the limited amount of sunlight passing through the canopy and increased evapotranspiration. Air temperature is a precursor to the formation of many pollutants. Locally reduced air temperature therefore partially reduces the concentration of pollutants in the air.

Last but not least, green infrastructure has a positive effect on human health by reducing stress and noise pollution (Al-Dabbous and Kumar, 2014).

### HOW DOES GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVE AIR QUALITY?

### DIRECTLY

- The vegetation cover removes air pollutants.
- By capturing suspended particulates ( $PM_1$ ,  $PM_2$ ,  $PM_1$ ) on the surface of leaves.
- The stomata absorb molecules  $(O_3, NO_2)$ .

### INDIRECTLY

- Increased humidity and decreased temperatures reduce photochemical formation of ozone.
- It obstructs airflow. When wind speed decreases, the deposition of suspended particles occur.



## 2. PRINCIPLES OF PLANTING GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

### MONITORING POLLUTANT CAPTURE

Air quality monitoring in the Czech Republic is currently ensured by the national monitoring network of the Czech Hydrometeorological Institute, the network of the National Institute of Public Health, and other stations acquired by industrial companies or the cities themselves. Totally, there are about 150 stations. The layout of the stations is sufficient to monitor regional differences in air quality, but it often fails to capture processes and conditions on a local scale. However, when green infrastructure is planted in an urban environment, it is necessary to take into account the air pollution and meteorological conditions in the given place, as the sensitivity of individual plant species to pollutant concentrations varies significantly. It is therefore appropriate to add available and easy-to-operate sensor technology to the existing network, ideally installed right next to the proposed greenery. Long-term continuous monitoring also enables us to monitor and evaluate the effect of pollutant capture by the current and future greenery.



- Sensors are an appropriate addition to the existing network.
- Sensors are suitable for assessing pollutant capture by green infrastructure.
- They are much cheaper than stationary monitoring systems.
- Sensors can discover 'unusual' situations at the site and reveal the time of specific events.
- Sensors should record both air pollution concentrations of individual pollutants (PM<sub>x</sub>, NO<sub>x</sub>, O<sub>3</sub> etc.) and meteorological conditions, which affect the capture efficiency.
- Sensors are easy to install and require almost no manual operation.
- Sensors do not have to be dependent on an energy source thanks to their connection to a solar panel.
- Each sensor is different, and they must be calibrated.
- Data from sensors can be transmitted in real time to an online system for their quick visualisation and evaluation.
- However, sensors with wireless data transmission via a mobile data network (GPRS) are more expensive.
- Evaluated data from sensors should be taken into account when proposing the composition and arrangement of local green infrastructure.



### SPECIES COMPOSITION

An important factor in quality and efficient green infrastructure in terms of capturing pollutants is the species composition. The choice of vegetation species should further reflect the topographic, soil and climatic conditions at the site. Particularly native species should be the preferred choice.

The selection of vegetation species should take into account the sensitivity of specific species to air pollution in the given area, and it should be based on air pollution monitoring. Concentrations of tropospheric ozone, sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxides are important factors. Deciduous trees are generally more sensitive to tropospheric ozone than coniferous trees (Novotný et al., 2009). Experimental observations have shown relatively high sensitivity of cherry trees (Schaub et al. 2005), birches (Pääkkönen et al. 1998), alders and poplars (Skärby et al. 1998). Sensitive species of coniferous trees include Scots pine.

Another criterion is the capture efficiency itself, which is primarily conditioned by the extent of the leaf area on which air is filtered. Species with a densely branched crown and a large volume of green matter should therefore be preferred. In general, coniferous species capture more suspended particles than deciduous species (Tallis et al. 2011; Tiwary et al. 2009). Defoliation of deciduous species, which significantly reduces the capture of pollutants during the leafless period, is an important aspect. In contrast, coniferous non-deciduous species can capture pollution all year round. Experiments showed higher capture of  $PM_{10}$  by black pine, Scots pine, English yew and paper birch. Lower capture is expected by Norway maple, sweet cherry and small-leaved linden (Sæbø et al. 2012).

Moreover, pollutant capture efficiency likely also varies depending on the specific pollutant. In the case of tropospheric ozone, some studies point to higher efficiencies of deciduous species over conifers (Alonso et al., 2011). We can therefore assume that a combination of several deciduous and coniferous species with overall higher species diversity is appropriate for a more efficient capture of a wider range of pollutants. This also increases resistance to seasonal and climate changes.

### SELECTED TREE SPECIES WITH HIGH RESISTANCE TO AIR POLLUTANTS AND EFFICIENT POLLUTANT CAPTURE

Latin name	Apparatus	Georelief	Climate	Sensitivity to acid rain	Sensitivity to O <sub>3</sub>	Capability of capturing dust particles
Pinus nigra	evergreen	alpine	subtropical	resistant	tolerant	high
Picea abies	evergreen	alpine	boreal	sensitive	resistant	medium
Abies alba	evergreen	upland	mild	tolerant	resistant	medium
Quercus robur	deciduous	lowland	mild	resistant	resistant	medium
Quercus petraea	deciduous	highland	mild	resistant	resistant	high
Malus sylvestris	deciduous	highland	mild	resistant	resistant	medium
Ulmus minor	deciduous	lowland	sub-mediterranean	tolerant	tolerant	high
Cornus sanguinea	deciduous	highland	mild	tolerant	resistant	medium
Populus tremula	deciduous	highland	mild	resistant	resistant	medium
Prunus avium	deciduous	highland	mild	resistant	resistant	medium
Juglans regia	deciduous	upland	subtropical	resistant	tolerant	medium



Malus sylvestris European crab apple



Picea abies Norway spruce

Pinus nigra **black pine** 



Populus tremula **European aspen** 



Quercus robur robur English oak



Ulmus minor **field elm** 

The full plant database can be found at: www.clairo.ostrava.cz.

### STRUCTURE AND COMPOSITION

Another important aspect of green infrastructure in terms of reducing air pollution is its structure and composition. Important aspects include the shape and arrangement of leaves, as well as the roughness of their surface, type of margin and venation (Florentina and Io, 2012). Suspended particles are more effectively captured on waxy leaves with trichomes or with an otherwise fragmented surface with netted veins. In contrast, leaves with a smooth surface and prominent cuticle are less effective.

It is not only the properties of plant organs and their arrangement that are decisive, it is also the overall structure of the vegetation, such as the height and density of the canopy, the shape of the crown and the spatial arrangement of the branches (Litschke and Kuttler, 2008). For example, spherical crowns are more effective than conical crowns.

In general, the larger the surface area of the vegetation per unit of area, the greater the capture of pollutants; this is why mature trees with a dense multilayer canopy are significantly more effective than low vegetation consisting only of a herbaceous layer (Lovett 1994; Powe and Willis 2004; Nowak and Greenfield 2012). The ideal composition is a combination of several layers with trees and a shrub layer in the undergrowth.

In an effort to maximize canopy, the composition parameters of the species should take into account the ecological links of individual species and their demands on the habitat. The tree species composition should be spatially distributed so as to correspond to the position of the species in a natural community. Individual species combinations should be compatible in terms of growth and demands. Individual layers should not compete with growth and aggression, and species in the undergrowth should tolerate shading.





### **PROPERTIES OF GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE**

### **1. MICROSCOPIC**

- Shape and arrangement of leaves.
- Leaf surface roughness.

### 2. MACROSCOPIC

- Overall structure of foliage.
- Canopy height.
- Canopy density.
- Branching pattern.





### FERTILISATION AND TREATMENT

It is not only the species, structure and composition of the green infrastructure itself that determine the effectiveness of the capture of air pollutants; For the permanent preservation of the functions of the green infrastructure, further care is also necessary. Trees and shrubs in good health will better photosynthesize and create a denser and better leaf area, which will subsequently have a positive effect on the capture of pollutants from the air.

Urban greenery is generally treated with commercial anorganic fertilisers. However, the use of environmentally friendly products based on ,smart fertilisers' containing biostimulants and phytohormones, which help plants overcome various forms of abiotic stress, can be an innovative solution for both existing green infrastructure in urban areas as well as for treating new greenery in areas subjec to a combination of different forms of abiotic stress.

We propose the one-time application of TS HG Plant or a similar product containing humic acids, antistress substances and seaweed extracts. An active substance, the cytokinin derivative RR-D, can also be applied.

The proposed treatment product contains an optimal mixture of biostimulants with a high content of amino acids, anti-stress substances and seaweed extract, limiting potential negative effects of the external environment, especially during drought or significant temperature fluctuations. This fertiliser can be applied to any plants in any city.



Plant hormones (phytohormones) are small organic molecules that play a vital role in regulating plant growth and development. They occur naturally and act in small concentrations, forming in certain parts of plants, from where they are transported by the bast of the vascular bundle to their destination, eliciting a physiological response. The function of phytohormones is non-specific; one hormone can affect multiple processes. Phytohormones are used as growth regulators in plant production and plant biotechnology; in high concentrations, they act as herbicides for weed control.

Biostimulants are biologically active substances obtained from natural or waste materials. They can support plant growth and/or strengthen the resistance of plants to various stressors. The peculiarity of biostimulants is that they do not contain a high percentage of active substances, so they cannot be considered typical fertilisers or plant protection products. The active ingredients in biostimulants affect the metabolism of the plant and trigger processes in the plant that generally improve its growth and health.

# **3. CASE STUDY**

### PLANTING OF GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE NEAR AN INDUSTRIAL BUILDING – CASE STUDY IN OSTRAVA BARTOVICE AND RADVANICE

### - SITUATION IN THE MORAVIAN-SILESIAN REGION

The Moravian-Silesian Region has long been an area with poor air quality in a pan-European context. According to the results provided in the ISKO CHMI database (CHMI 2019) for air quality management, in 2018 the annual limit value of suspended particles  $PM_{10}$  and  $PM_{2.5}$  was exceeded at most monitoring stations in Ostrava.

The main sources of air pollution in Ostrava are stationary sources (metallurgical and energy production), household heating sources and transportation. In Ostrava, the fourth most important factor is cross-border air-pollution transport from the nearby industrial agglomeration of Katowice (Poland). The situation in Ostrava is exacerbated by topographically induced micro-climatic conditions - namely relatively long windless periods, which lead to lengthy inversions in the winter, increasing pollutant concentrations regardless of the decline in emissions.

The southeastern part of Ostrava is a particularly polluted area in association with the accumulation of large industrial resources and local heating. Additionally, the shape of the valley along the Ostravice River also limits dispersion of emissions when there is no wind.





### BARTOVICE AND RADVANICE SITES

The monitored area used for the case study is in two selected locations in the cadastral areas of the city districts of Radvanice and Bartovice. These neighbourhoods are characterized by significant emissions from the nearby industrial area in Ostrava Kunčice.

In 2018, the nearby monitoring station of the National Institute of Public Health measured an average annual  $PM_{10}$  concentration of  $44\mu g/m^3$  (110 % of the limit), placing the station in 1st place among the Czech stations where the limit value was exceeded. For  $PM_{2.5'}$  an average annual concentration of 36.8  $\mu g/m^3$  was measured (148 % of the limit). The daily limit was therefore exceeded 89x at that station (CHMI 2019).

Overview map of the areas of interest in the case study and the surrounding area. In the western part we can see an industrial building in Ostrava Kunčice.



### **RADVANICE SITE**

Radvanice is spread over an area of 1.04 ha, and it includes a combination of permanent grassland and scattered, solitary trees and shrubs, or their small clusters. The existing forest stands extend to the edges of the monitored area. The area has significantly more moisture, which is reflected in the occurrence of water loving tree species, especially in the surrounding stands, particularly willows and alder trees.







Current vegetation at the Radvanice site before the planting of the proposed greenery (as of 2019).

### **BARTOVICE SITE**

The site in Bartovice consists of the western to southwestern edge of the industrial waste landfill. Before planting greenery, there were no technical or vegetation elements in this area. The area was completely empty and barren. Near the monitored area to the west, mostly pioneer tree species can be found. The total area of Bartovice is 0.73 ha.







### AIR POLLUTION MEASUREMENT AND INFORMATION SYSTEM

A total of 19 sensor units and one reference system are installed in the areas of interest for the purposes of monitoring the air pollutant concentrations. The sensors were installed before the greenery was planted so that the effectiveness of pollution capture by the newly planted green infrastructure could be evaluated. Continuous measurements for at least another 8 years are anticipated, so that the development over time can be evaluated with the development of the greenery and connectivity of the growth.

A sensor box is installed at each measuring point - this is a device consisting of a 300 x 400 x 220 mm measuring part and a 620 x 670 mm solar panel. Each sensor is alternately independent of the energy source; they contain a battery and are connected to a solar panel and 220 V mains. The sensors are installed on metal poles up to a height of about 4 metres.

The purpose of the measurement and the nature of the methodology used must be taken into account when applying the measurement results, and it is necessary to realize that monitoring does not serve to control the limits, but rather for comparison and information about the spatial distribution of pollutant concentrations.

Results to date indicate very good compliance with reference stations for  $PM_x$ , which is the most serious pollutant, and less compliance for  $NO_x$  and  $O_3$ .



The sensor units are connected to one common network and they provide online data wirelessly. Data are transferred to the existing intelligent information system, which allows:

- collection of short-term concentrations from sensors
- storage of transferred data in a specially structured database
- automatic data inspection
- validation based on reference measurements
- manual evaluation of data validity
- concentration maps for individual pollutants
- model calculation based on measured meteorological indicators (wind speed and direction)
- animated sequences for various intervals (hour, day, month)
- automatic marking of the place and time of a "non-standard" concentration in concentration tables
- data export for individual IIS network points into tables
- data and map storage in a well-arranged archived

### SENSOR PARAMETERS

- variable power supply (mains, battery or solar panel), all ariants listed
- weather resistant; the whole system is robustly designed
- communication with the server via a radio network
- applicability ranges of sensors for air pollution measurement

#### NO<sub>2</sub> sensors

- Type of measurement: electrochemical sensor
- Minimum range: 0–250 ppt
- Detection limit: ≤20 ppb
- Frequency of the provision of measured data: ≤1 min

#### NO<sub>2</sub> sensors

- Type of measurement: electrochemical sensor
- Minimum range: 0–5000 ppb
- Detection limit: ≤40 ppb
- Frequency of the provision of measured data: ≤1 min

#### PM<sub>sensors</sub>

- Type of measurement: optical
- Size range of measured particles: 0.38 10 μm
- Minimum amount of size channels: 8
- Minimum range of mass concentration measurement:  $0-500\ \mu\text{g/m}^3$
- Detection limit: ≤1 μg/m<sup>3</sup>

#### **VOC sensors**

- Type of measurement: photoionization detector (PID)
- Measured substances: VOC sum
- Minimum range: 0–16 ppn
- Detection limit (for isobutylene): ≤10 ppb



Preview of the information system map portal application.

Data can be viewed at the web map portal: www.floreon.eu or www.airsens.eu

### PLANTING GREENERY IN THE PROPOSED STRUCTURE

The main purpose of the case study is to compare the initial air pollution without a sufficiently functional green infrastructure with the change after growth-balanced stages are reached in several species combination and structure variants.

The tree planting plan at the Radvanice site is situated in the preserved habitat conditions typical of the wider Ostrava Basin region, where the proposed tree composition consists of geographically native species.

In contrast, the proposed greenery at the Bartovice site is situated on heavily anthropogenically affected soils from waste materials, where the proposed tree composition is based on a comparison of a combination of non-native resistant species and pioneer species.

## The process of designing green infrastructure includes criteria for planting material, allelopathy and culture replenishment. The following principles were taken into account:

- Planting material was planted in the form characterised by territorially relevant standards.
  Plants with a root ball are used for planting.
- Native, uncultivated plant forms were preferred, with the exception of an experiment comparing cultivated and uncultivated plant forms. Native plant species were exclusively selected from geographically native uncultivated populations to preserve the gene pool. Cultivated forms were only allowed when uncultivated forms of the proposed non-native species were unavailable.
- Plants grown in habitat-appropriate conditions were preferred. The transfer of reproductive

material was only permitted in accordance with international or national law.

- Tree layers and a shrub layer. Tree layers are divided into the upper canopy layer and the understory layer.
- Species with increased resistance to air pollution were preferred. The resistance of trees was simplified to classify the degree of tolerance to the deposition of sulfur and nitrogen, tropospheric ozone and solid dust particles.

#### Creation of an initial plant list

⇔

### Viability and resilience

Will the proposed vegetation thrive in local environmental conditions?

#### What to consider:

- The current air pollution (according to local monitoring).
- Climate and soil conditions.
- Soil salinity.
- Other environmental risks (drought, toxicity of the environment).

Taking into account local development and urban composition

⇔

#### **Revision of the list**

Prioritization of plants depending on their ability to capture pollutants

Air pollutant capture

potential

How can we maximize the

efficiency of pollutant

capture by the proposed

vegetation?

⇔

### Morphology and ecophysiology

What are the local conditions and overall context in terms of surrounding development? Is the greenery planted in an open space or a street canyon?

 In general: Sun-loving species for open areas, shade-loving species for street canyons.

#### Source of pollution

 Species with lower volatile organic compound (VOC) and pollen emissions.

#### Species diversity

• Multiple species.

#### Native species

 Elimination of non-native, invasive species or species incompatible with local legislation.

#### Competition

 Species combinations should be compatible in terms of growth and demands.

### What to consider:

- The type of vegetation (evergreen, coniferous species over deciduous species).
- The structure of the vegetation (height, densely branched crown, multiple layers).
- Size and complexity of the leaf apparatus.
- Leaf surface (rough, sticky).

Diagram of the procedure for creating a plan for planting green infrastructure with regard to improving local air quality. Edited based on Barwise and Kumar (2020).

## Trees in the upper canopy layer

Abies alba, Pynus sylvestris, Larix decidua, Quercus cerris, Tilia platyphyllos

#### Trees in the understory layer

Betula pendula, Prunus mahaleb, Carpinus betulus, Crataegus monogyna, Sorbus aria

#### Shrubs

Ribes alpinum, Sambucus racemosa, Ligustrum vulgare, Lonicera xylosteum, Euonymus europaeus, Viburnum lantana, Lonicera xylosteum, Cornus sanguinea



Size and species composition of proposed greenery. The proposed trees are divided into two vertical vegetation layers - the canopy layer with a canopy height of 2.2 m, and the understory layer with multi-stemmed trees branched from the ground.



Greenery planting plan in Radvanice. The proposed trees are placed in rows 6 m apart. The same spacing between trees was kept in each row. In places with a stagnosols soil types, mulched shrub plantings were proposed over the entire area in rows 1.5 m apart. The following species were used: *Quercus petraea, Acer pseudoplatanus, Tilia platyphyllos, Populus nigra, Salix daphnoides, Ulmus laevis* (upper canopy layer), *Acer campestre, Crataegus monogyna, Prunus padus, Lonicera xylosteum, Prunus avium* (understory layer), *Viburnum opulus, Alnus viridis, Frangula alnus, Rosa majalis, Salix purpurea* (shrubs).



Greenery planting plan in Bartovice. The tree layout was designed in rows that are 6 m apart in the central part of the monitored area. The distance between individual rows is reduced to 4.5 m at the edges. In each row, the trees are 6 m apart. A total of 203 trees were proposed. The following species were used: *Pinus sylvestris, Larix decidua, Quercus cerris, Tilia platyphyllos* (upper canopy layer), *Betula pendula, Malus sylvestris, Carpinus betulus, Crataegus monogyna, Sorbus torminalis* (understory layer), *Ribes alpinum, Sambucus racemosa, Ligustrum vulgare, Lonicera xylosteum* (shrubs).

### STRENGTHENING THE RESISTANCE OF PLANTS

At the site of the proposed green infrastructure, several types of fertilisers are applied and their impact on the quality of the greenery is monitored, which ultimately reflects the ability to capture pollutants from the air.

The soil is specifically treated with three types of fertilisers: (1) a common commercial inorganic fertiliser, (2) a commercial biostimulant with a high content of amino acids, anti-stress substances and seaweed extract limiting potential negative environmental influences (TS entinel, TS VIN), and (3) an innovative smart fertiliser with the active substance cytokinin derivative RR-D.

All other standard crop treatments (watering, weeding, etc.) are the same for all three variants - at the same time in the same amount, etc., so that the effect of the applied fertilisers is distorted as little as possible by other factors.

The main prerequisite for the application of innovative treatment is the improvement of the basic physiological parameters of the new greenery. These are monitored by a number of highly sensitive and unique methods (gasometry, detection of selected fluorescence parameters, content of photosynthetic pigments, measurement of endogenous phytohormone levels using a combination of ultra-efficient liquid chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry) in order to assess the impact of the innovative treatment on the physiological condition of new plantings and existing vegetation at selected sites and, if necessary, to propose further optimisation of this treatment.



Simplified diagram of the model of pollutant capture by green infrastructure. Adapted based on Zapletal et al. (2011) and Janhäll (2015).

the current and proposed greenery of different types and with different layouts to capture air pollutants  $O_{3}$ ,  $NO_{10}$  and  $PM_{10}$ . The quantification of the capture of a pollutant at a given site during a certain period of time (e.g. vegetation period, calendar year) is based on deposition models (Zapletal 2001; Zapletal et al. 2011; Nowak 1994; Janhäll 2015).

Model inputs include meteorological characteristics (temperature, wind speed, global radiation, humidity) measured in the given place or its surrounding area, concentrations of pollutants and structural properties of greenery. All information from previous project phases is used.

The inventory of existing greenery is assessed on the basis of a dendrometric survey (height, mean crown projection), species composition and health status. The spatial distribution of individual plants and their structural properties is transferred to a GIS environment on the basis of aerial orthophotos, which enables modeling capture in a two-dimensional space in a detailed 1 x 1 m grid, taking into account the spatial variability of the air pollution field.

The proposed greenery is based on the planting plan and it takes into account both the proposed species composition and the considered structure and composition of the stand. The following attributes were distinguished: height of the proposed vegetation, species composition and mean crown projection area. The health of the newly planted vegetation was assumed to be excellent, i.e. with no damage. The height of the vegetation was determined to be 4.5 metres for solitary trees in the vertical canopy layer, 2.5 metres for multi-stemmed trees in the understory layer, and 0.80 metres for shrubs. The mean crown projection area was established at 4 m. The spatial arrangement of the vegetation was defined on the basis of planting plan drawings, which were georeferenced into a GIS environment using the boundary points of cadastral parcels. Each tree was vectorized and the above attributes were assigned to them.

Based on these structural parameters of the current and proposed greenery, the leaf area index (LAI) was determined as the input for the deposition model (Nowak et al. 2008). In places with herbaceous, shrub and tree layers, all LAI values were added up. The value of the highest point of the vegetation at the given place was used for the stand height. Finally, LAI values for the proposed and current vegetation, inclusive, were determined by the sum of the LAI in both states.

After the proposed greenery is planted, we can expect a significant increase in the capture of pollutants on the basis of modelled outputs, with over double the amount of capture at the Radvanice site.

At the Bartovice site, no significant capture is currently expected before the planting due to the absence of any current greenery. A significant increase in capture is expected after the greenery is planted.



Capture of  $O_3$  (g) before the planting (on the left) and after the planting of the proposed vegetation (on the right) in a 1 x 1 m grid at the Radvanice site. Modelled for a two-month period (at the end of the growing season).



Capture of  $PM_{10}$  (g) before the planting (on the left) and after the planting of the proposed vegetation (on the right) in a 1 x 1 m grid at the Radvanice site. Modelled for a two-month period (at the end of the growing season).



Capture of  $NO_x(g)$  before the planting (on the left) and after the planting of the proposed vegetation (on the right) in a 1 x 1 m grid at the Radvanice site. Modelled for a two-month period (at the end of the growing season).



Capture of  $O_3$  (g) after the planting of the proposed vegetation in a 1 x 1 m grid at the Bartovice site. Modelled for a two-month period (at the end of the growing season). No significant capture is expected before the planting due to the absence of any current greenery.



Capture of  $PM_{10}$  (g) after the planting of the proposed vegetation in a 1 x 1 m grid at the Bartovice site. Modelled for a two-month period (at the end of the growing season). No significant capture is expected before the planting due to the absence of any current greenery.



Capture of  $NO_x$  (g) after the planting of the proposed vegetation in a 1 x 1 m grid at the Bartovice site. Modelled for a two-month period (at the end of the growing season). No significant capture is expected before the planting due to the absence of any current greenery.

### MODELLED O<sub>3</sub>, PM<sub>10</sub> A NO<sub>x</sub> CAPTURE

Total capture (kg) for September and October 2019



Modelled capture at the Radvanice and Bartovice sites. At the Radvanice site, the capture by the current and the proposed (including the current) green infrastructure for a period of two months (at the end of the growing season) is distinguished. The condition after the planting of the proposed vegetation is considered for the Bartovice site.

Overall, we can expect a significant improvement in local air quality at both sites.

### TRANSFER OF KNOW-HOW AND PUBLIC SURVEYS

The methods and experience gained during the project are also passed on to other partner cities (e.g. Opava, Třinec, Karviná) in the Moravian-Silesian Region. Both the professional and the general public in the Czech Republic and around the world is notified of the findings.

Know-how on the importance of green infrastructure in cities and its planting with regard to improving air quality and adapting to climate change is transferred through workshops for city representatives, academics and students in primary and secondary schools and universities.

Further transfer of knowledge and experience is made possible by opinion polls, which serve to educate people as well as present findings. They also provide an insight into local society and how important the issues of air pollution and the role of greenery are to the population. The findings are processed in the form of a study dealing with the public's attitude to air quality and urban greenery and their willingness to change their behaviour in favour of air protection. They also include the views and comments of experts.

The surveys were conducted in the Moravian-Silesian Region in 2019 and 2020, and they were carried out by exclusive quantitative research using standardized face to-face, in-home interviews. The subsample consisted of a total of 1207 respondents.



### THE MOST IMPORTANT FINDING IS THAT:

Almost 30 % of inhabitants in the region believe that the air quality has worsened in the last 10 years, which does not correspond with actual air quality measurements.

The topic of air quality is important to four fifths of inhabitants of the agglomeration. Almost one half of inhabitants are somewhat or definitely unsatisfied with the air quality.

An overwhelming majority of respondents declare their willingness to personally contribute to improving the air and environment in their region. Most often by supporting the planting of greenery (90 %) and not burning household waste (including leaves, grass, paper), but also by using sustainable forms of transport.

The topics of clean air and greenery in cities are especially important to university-educated and younger inhabitants, which is an important message for cities facing an outflow of population mostly from this group. Although we are facing this outflow in our region, we should also take advantage of the fact that there are universities in these cities (Ostrava, Opava, Karviná), as it is young and educated people who produce leaders in thought and politics.



### CONCLUSION

Green infrastructure improves the environment with its filtering, cooling, protective and social functions. It contributes to the improvement of air quality in urban environments by removing suspended particles and other pollutants. Green infrastructure, planted and treated with regard to its sensitivity to pollution and its ability to capture pollutants from the air, can be a suitable adaptation measure and solution for improving air quality in places with heavy air pollution.

The present manual, including a case study of greenery planting in Ostrava Bartovice and Radvanice, provides the basic principles of establishing green infrastructure in industrial areas to mitigate the impacts of environmental change through nature-friendly management.



### LITERATURE

Al-Dabbous, A. N., Kumar, P. (2014): The influence of roadside vegetation barriers on airborne nanoparticles and pedestrians exposure under varying wind conditions. Atmospheric Environment, 90, 113-124.

Alonso, R., Vivanco, M. G., González-Fernández, I., Bermejo, V., Palomino, I., Garrido, J. L., Elvira, S., Salvador, P., Artínano, B. (2011). Modelling the influence of peri-urban trees in the air quality of Madrid region (Spain). Environmental Pollution, 159 (8-9), 2138- 2147.

Barwise, Y., Kumar, P. (2020): Designing vegetation barriers for urban air pollution abatement: a practical review for appropriate plant species selection. npj Clim Atmos Sci, 3 (12), 1-19.

Brauer, M., Amann, M., Burnett, R. T., Cohen, A., Dentener, F., Ezzati, M., Henderson, S. B., Krzyzanowski, M., Randall, V. M., van Dingenen, R., van Donkelaar, Thurston, G. D. (2012): Exposure assessment for estimation of the global burden of disease attributable to outdoor air pollution. Environmental science & Technology, 46 (2), 652-660.

Cavanagh, J. A. E., Zawar-Reza, P., Wilson, J. G. (2009): Spatial attenuation of ambient particulate matter air pollution within an urbanised native forest patch. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 8 (1), 21-30.

ČHMÚ (2019): Souhrnný roční tabelární přehled. Znečištění ovzduší a atmosférická depozice v datech, Česká republika. Online: https://www.chmi.cz/files/portal/docs/uoco/ isko/tab\_roc/2019\_enh/index\_ CZ.html.

ČSÚ (2018): Demografická ročenka České republiky – 2019. Počet obyvatel podle jednotek věku, pohlaví a typu urbanizace (k 31. 12. 2019). Online: https://www.czso.cz/csu/ czso/demograficka-rocenka-ceske-republiky-2019.

Dzhambrov, A., Hartig, T., Markevych, I., Tilov, B., Dimitrova, D. (2018): Urban residential greenspace and mental health in youth: Different approaches to testing multiple pathways yield different conclusions.

Environmental Research, 160, 47-59.

European Commission (2013): Building a Green Infrastructure for Europe. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 24.

Florentina, I., Io, B. (2012): The Effects of Air Pollutants on Vegetation and the Role of Vegetation in

Reducing Atmospheric Pollution, in: The Impact of Air Pollution on Health, Economy, Environment and Agricultural Sources. InTech. 241-280.

Fuller, R. A., Gaston, K. J. (2009): The scaling of green space coverage in European cities. Biology Letters, 5 (3), 352-355.

Gascon, M., Triguero-Mas, M., Martínez, D., Dadvand, P., Rojas-Rueda, D., Plasència, A., Nieuwenhuijsen,

M. J. (2016): Residential green spaces and mortality: A systematic review. Environment International, 86, 60-67.

Janhäll, S. (2015): Review on urban vegetation and particle air pollution - Deposition and dispersion. Atmospheric Environment, 105, 130-137.

Landrigan, P. J., Carlson, J. E., Bearer, C. F., Cranmer, J. S., Bullard, R. D., Etzel, R. A., Suk, W. A. (1998): Children's health and the environment: a new agenda for prevention research. Environmental Health Perspectives, 106 (3), 787.

Litschke, T., Kuttler, W. (2008): On the reduction of urban particle concentration by vegetation – A review. Meteorologische Zeitschrift, 17, 229-240.

Lovett, G. M. (1994): Atmospheric deposition of nutrients and pollutants in North America: An ecological perspective. Ecological Applications, 4, 629–650.

Novotný, R., Buriánek, V., Šrámek, V. (2009): Metodika hodnocení viditelného poškození vegetace vyvolaného účinky přízemního ozonu: recenzovaná metodika. Výzkumný ústav lesního hospodářství a myslivosti, 48.

Nowak, D. J. (1994): Air pollution removal by Chicago's urban forest. In McPher, E. G., Nowak, D. J., Rowntree, R. A. (Eds.), Chicago's urban forest ecosystem: Results of the Chicago urban forest climate project. US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Forest Experiment Station. 63-82.

Nowak, D. J., Crane, D. E., Stevens, J. C. (2006): Air pollution removal by urban trees and shrubs in the United States. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 4, 115-123.

Nowak, D. J., Crane, D. E., Stevens, J. C. Robert E. Hoehn, R. E., Walton, J. T., Bond J. (2008): A Ground-Based Method of Assessing Urban Forest Structure and Ecosystem Services. Arboriculture & Urban Forestry, 34 (6), 347-358.

Nowak, D. J., Greenfield, E. J. (2012): Urban Forestry & Urban Greening Tree and impervious cover change in U. S. cities. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 11, 21-30.

Pääkkone, E., Vahala, J., Holopainen, T., Karenlampi, L. (1998): Physiological and ultrastructural responses of birch clones exposed to ozone and drought stress. Chemosphere, 36, 679-684.

Powe, N. A., Willis, K. G. (2004): Mortality and morbidity benefits of air pollution (SO2 and PM10) absorption attributable to woodland in Britain. Journal of Environment Management, 70, 119-128.

Pugh, T. A. M., MacKenzie, A. R., Whyatt, J. D., Hewitt, C. N. (2012): Effectiveness of green infrastructure for improvement of air quality in urban street canyons. Environmental Science & Technology, 46, 7692-7699.

Sæbø, A., Popek, R., Nawrot, B., Hanslin, H. M., Gawronska, H., Gawronski, S. W. (2012): Plant species differences in particulate matter accumulation on leaf surfaces. Science of the Total Environment, 427-428, 347-54.

Sakar, C. (2017): Residential greenness and adiposity: Findings from the UK Biobank. Environment International 106, 1-10.

Schaub, M., Skelly, J. M., Zhang, J. W., Ferdinand, J. A., Savage, J. E., Stevenson, R. E., Davis, D. D., Steiner,

K. C. (2005): Physiological and foliar symptom response in the crowns of Prunus serotina, Fraxinus americana and Acer rubrum canopy trees to ambient ozone under forest conditions. Environmental Pollution, 133, 553-567.

Shah, P., Balkhair, T. (2011): Air pollution and birth outcomes: A systematic review. Environment International, *37*, 498-516.

Skarby, L. L., Ro-Poulsen, H., Wellburn, F. A. M., Sheppard, L. J. (1998): Impact of ozone on forests: a European Perspective. New Phytologist, 139, 109-122.

Smith, M. P., Guarnizo, L. E. (2009): Global mobility, shifting borders and urban citizenship. Tijdschrift voor economische en sociale geografie, 100 (5), 610-622.

Tallis, M., Taylor, G., Sinnett, D., Freer-Smith, P. (2011): Estimating the removal of atmospheric particulate pollution by the urban tree canopy of London, under current and future environments. Landscape and Urban Planning, 103, 129-138.

Ten Brink, P., Mutafoglu, K., Schweitzer, J. P., Kettunen, M., Twigger-Ross, C., Baker, J., Kuipers, Y., Emonts, M., Tyrväinen, L., Hujala, T., Ojala, A. (2016): The Health and Social Benefits of Nature and Biodiversity Protection – Executive summary. A report for the European Commission (ENV.B.3/ETU/2014/0039), Institute for European Environmental Policy, London / Brussels.

Tiwary, A., Sinnett, D., Peachey, C., Chalabi, Z., Vardoulakis, S., Fletcher, T., Leonardi, G., Grundy, C., Azapagic, A., Hutchings, T. R. (2009): An integrated tool to assess the role of new planting in PM10 capture and the human health benefits: A case study in London. Environmental Pollution, 157, 2645-2653.

Van den Berg, M., Wendel-Vos, W., van Poppel, M., Kemper, H., van Mechelen, W., Maas, J. (2015): Health benefits of green spaces in the living environment: A systematic review of epidemiological studies. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 14 (4), 806-816.

Zapletal M. (2001): Atmospheric deposition of nitrogen and sulphur compounds in the Czech Republic. The Scientific World, 1 (2), 294-303.

Zapletal, M., Cudlín, P., Chroust, P., Urban, O., Pokorný, R., Edwards-Jonášová, M., Czerný, R., Janouš, D., Taufarová, T., Večeřa, Z., Mikuška, P., Paoletti, E. (2011): Ozone flux over a Norway spruce forest and correlation with Net Ecosystem Production. Environmental Pollution, 159, 1024-1034.





### IMAGES

Photos of trees were taken from https://commons.wikimedia.org/.

Pinus nigra. AnamoneProjectors. Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 2.0 Generic. https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Pinus\_nigra1.jpg

Picea abies. Wilhelm Zimmerling PAR. Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 4.0 International. https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Ruhland,\_Fichtestr.\_7,\_Gew%C3%B6hnliche\_Fichte,\_ Vorwinter,\_01.jpg

Quercus robur. Czeva. Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 4.0 International. https:// commons. wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Sedleck%C3%BD\_dub\_01.jpg

Malus sylvestris. Daderot. Creative Commons CCO 1.0 Universal Public Domain Dedication. https:// commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Malus\_sylvestris\_-\_Botanical\_Garden\_in\_Kaisaniemi,\_ Helsinki\_-\_ DSCO3467.JPG

Ulmus minor. Eric Collin. Original uploader was Ptelea at en.wikipedia. GNU Free Documentation License. https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Blismes\_elm\_2007.jpg

Populus tremula. Zeynel Cebeci. Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 4.0 International. https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Populus\_tremula\_-\_Eurasian\_Aspen\_01.jpg

The photos on 1, 4, 12, 13,17, 18, 19, 23, 25, 35, 37, 38, 39, 57, 59, 4, 65, 67, 68 come from archive MMO.



